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APPENDIX A
NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Public Service Electric and Gas Company Docket No. 50-354
Hope Creek Generating Station License No. CPPR-120

As a result of the inspection conducted on August 12 - September 23, 1985, and
in accordance with NRC Enforcement Policy (10 CFR 2, Appendix C), the
following violation was identified:

10 CFR 50 Appendix B, Criterion IIl, states in part that measures shall
be established to assure that the design bases are correctly
translated into specifications and drawings, and that design control
measures provide for verifying or checking the adequacy of design.

Bechtel Power Corpoation Nuclear Quality Assurance Manual Section II,
Number 6, Rev. 4, Desfgn Verification, further states that design output
documents for items on the Project Q-List shall be controlled to verify
technical adequacy and conformance with the design criteria.

Contrary to the above as of July 7, 1985, design of Class 1E 480 VAC Unit
Substation (USS) Main Control Room annunciator and computer alarm points
was not accurately translated into drawings and "as Huilt" installation.
Design logic diagram E-3134-0(Q) Revision 7 indicates that in loss of 125
VDC control power to each of the Class 1E 480 VAC USS a common main
control room annunciator and specific computer alarm points will be
actuated. Electrical Schematic Diagram E-0097-0(Q) Sheet 2, Revision 5,
and the as built configuration, show power for the annunciator and
computer points supplied by the same 125 VDC source being lost. On loss
of 125 VDC control power, power to corresponding annunciator and computer
points is also lost so that no alarm is generated.

This is a Severity lLevel IV Violation.

Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, Public Service Electric and Gas
Company is hereby required to submit to this office within 30 days of the date
of the letter which transmitted this Notice, a written satement or explanation
in reply, including: (1) the corrective steps which have been taken and the
results achieved; (2) corrective steps which will be taken to avoid further
violations; and (3) the date when full compliance will be achieved. Where
good cause is showr, consideration will be given to extending this response
time.
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